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Court determined that the Plaintiff had standing based “on words directly from the mouths of the 

relevant third parties explaining why they took actions that caused [plaintiff’s] injury.”  Id.  In 

contrast, Plaintiffs’ bald assertions that the guidance challenged caused local police and private 

security guards to undertake the actions complained of are insufficient to establish the causal 

nexus required to establish standing.3  
 
II. THE GUIDANCE CHALLENGED DOES NOT CONSTITUTE BINDING FINAL 
 AGENCY ACTION THAT IS REVEWABLE UNDER THE APA OR A BINDING 
 LEGISLATIVE RULE REQUIRING NOTICE-AND-COMMENT RULEMAKING 

Even if Plaintiffs did have standing to bring this lawsuit against Defendants, the 

challenged guidance is not subject to the APA.  The procedural requirements of the APA do not 

automatically apply to all actions taken by federal agencies.  An agency action is only subject to 

judicial review if it determines the rights and obligations of relevant actors.  Bennett v. Spear, 

520 U.S. 154, 178 (1997).  And an agency pronouncement is only required to go through notice-

and-comment rulemaking if it is an exercise of delegated legislative power to make rules that 

have the same legal force as statutory enactments.  Stoddard Lumber Co. v. Marshall, 627 F.2d 

984, 987 (9th Cir. 1980).  When the challenged agency action is the issuance of a purported rule, 

these doctrines largely coalesce into a single inquiry: whether the challenged agency rule 

establishes a binding norm with the force of law.  See Ctr. for Auto Safety v. Nat’l Highway 

Traffic Safety Admin., 452 F.3d 798, 806 (D.C. Cir. 2006).4   

                            
3 Contrary to their assertions otherwise, see Pls. Opp. at 19–22, Plaintiffs are not left without an 
adequate remedy.  As explained, see Gov. Br. at 22–23, to the extent Plaintiffs claim that they 
were improperly investigated by local police and private entities, a lawsuit against those third-
parties under state or federal law is an adequate remedy that precludes APA review.  And to the 
extent Plaintiffs attempt to proceed under the APA as a means to redress other hypothetical, 
speculative harms alleged to have resulted from the challenged guidance, see Pls. Opp. at 21 
(arguing that collection and dissemination of SAR information has resulted in injury), those 
harms fail to provide a basis to proceed under the APA.  To proceed under the APA, Plaintiffs 
must allege facts demonstrating that they have been “adversely affected or aggrieved” under 5 
U.S.C. § 702, which requires a showing of, among other things, the same “injury-in-fact” 
required by standing doctrine.  Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 733 (1972).  As explained, 
Plaintiffs cannot make this showing based on the speculative, hypothetical harm alleged in the 
Complaint. 
4 Plaintiffs’ focus on the multi-prong test articulated by the D.C. Circuit, and adopted by the 
Ninth Circuit, is misplaced.  Pls. Opp. at 31–33 (citing Am. Mining Congress v. Mine Safety & 
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Defendants’ guidance does not create any such binding norm.  Plaintiffs concede that that 

there is no requirement that any law enforcement agency participate in the NSI, and that even 

those agencies that do elect to participate are never compelled to share information.  Pls. Opp. at 

22–23.  Nonetheless, they argue that Defendants’ guidance constitutes final agency action 

because that guidance prohibits law enforcement agencies that do participate in the NSI from 

sharing SARs that are not reasonably indicative of preoperational planning related to terrorism.  

Id.  While Plaintiffs are correct that Defendants’ guidance indicates that NSI participants should 

refrain from sharing SARs that do not meet the reasonably indicative standard through NSI 

databases, this guidance does not alter the rights or obligations of these participants, and thus, is 

not subject to the APA’s requirements. 

Unable to cite any legal requirement that law enforcement agencies comply with 

Defendants’ guidance, Plaintiffs argue that this guidance has the “practical effect” of being 

binding because Defendants expect compliance with that guidance.  See Pls. Opp. at 24–25.  

However, though an expectation of immediate compliance with an agency regulation or order 

can be an indicator of finality, see, e.g., Ukiah Valley Med. Ctr. v. F.T.C., 911 F.2d 261, 264 (9th 

Cir. 1990), the standard for whether an agency action is final still requires that the agency action 

determine rights or obligations.  Accordingly, an expectation of compliance is only significant to 

the extent that it shows that the challenged agency action has the status of law.  F.T.C. v. 

Standard Oil Co. of Cal., 449 U.S. 232, 239–40 (1980) (explaining that immediate compliance 

with an agency regulation requiring prescription drug manufacturers to print certain information 

on drug labels was expected because the regulation had the “the status of law”); Oregon Natural 

                                                                                        

Health Admin., 995 F.2d 1106, 1112 (D.C. Cir. 1993)).  That test is specifically designed to 
determine if the interpretive-rule exemption to the APA’s notice-and-comment requirements is 
applicable.  5 U.S.C. § 553(b)(3)(A); Am. Mining, 995 F.2d at 1108–12.  It is largely irrelevant 
here because Defendants do not assert that the guidance interprets a pre-existing legal rule 
governing the sharing of information by state and local law enforcement in connection with the 
NSI.  To the contrary, no such legal rule exists at all.  The APA also exempts “general statements 
of policy” and “rules of agency organization, procedure, or practice” from its procedural 
requirements.  5 U.S.C. § 553(b)(3)(A).  Assuming for argument’s sake that Defendants’ 
guidance is a final agency action subject to APA review, these exemptions would more 
appropriately be applied to analyze Defendants’ guidance than the interpretive-rule exemption. 
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Desert Ass’n v. U.S. Forest Serv., 465 F.3d 977, 987 (9th Cir. 2006) (“We consider whether the 

[action] has the status of law or comparable legal force, and whether immediate compliance with 

its terms is expected.” (quotation marks and citation omitted)); National Ass’n of Home Builders 

v. Norton, 415 F.3d 8, 15 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (“[I]f the practical effect of the agency action is not a 

certain change in the legal obligations of a party, the action is non-final for the purpose of 

judicial review.”).  Plaintiffs fail to point to any action by Defendants demonstrating that the 

guidance satisfies that standard.  

First, the language that Plaintiffs cite in the Functional Standard and Privacy Impact 

Assessment, see Pls. Opp. at 24, does not demonstrate that the guidance has binding effect.  The 

term “will be used” as employed in the functional standard is not the equivalent of “shall be 

used” and is consistent with these documents being descriptive rather than imposing an 

obligation.  Unlike in other cases where courts have found that agency guidance is binding based 

in part on the language of that guidance, neither the Functional Standard nor the Privacy Impact 

Assessment expressly states that compliance with the standards they describe is mandatory.  See 

Bennett, 520 U.S. at 170 (“The [biological opinion] at issue in the present case begins by 

instructing the reader that any taking of a listed species is prohibited unless ‘such taking is in 

compliance with this incidental take statement’ and warning that ‘[t]he measures described 

below are nondiscretionary, and must be taken by [the Bureau].’”); Appalachian Power Co. v. 

E.P.A., 208 F.3d 1015, 1023 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (“[T]he entire Guidance, from beginning to end—

except the last paragraph—reads like a ukase.  It commands, it requires, it orders, it dictates.”).  

In addition, contrary to other instances where courts have found that agency guidance has a 

binding legal effect based partly on the language of that guidance, there is no statute or 

regulation providing that state and local law enforcement agencies are required to comply with 

Defendants’ guidance or that any sanction will be imposed for a failure to comply.  See Bennett, 

520 U.S. at 170; Appalachian Power, 208 F.3d at 1017–20.5   

                            
5 A comparison to 28 C.F.R. Part 23—a regulation that was issued through notice-and-comment 
rulemaking—is instructive in this respect.  That regulation both expressly conditions federal 
funding on a grantee’s adherence to specific operating principles and imposes a monitoring 
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Second, there is no support for the proposition that training provided by Defendants to 

state and local law enforcement is an indicator of final agency action.  See Pls. Opp. at 24–25.  

While such training is undertaken to achieve uniformity in the sharing of SAR information, as 

explained in Defendants’ initial brief, an agency’s decision to encourage others to follow its 

guidance does not amount to the imposition of a legal obligation.  See Gov. Br. at 25. 

Third, the existence of the eGuardian User Agreement does not transform the issuance of 

the Privacy Impact Assessment (let alone the Functional Standard) into a final agency action 

reviewable by this Court.6  That agreement, as Plaintiffs must concede, does not require law 

enforcement agencies to participate in the NSI or compel NSI participants to share incident 

reports.  Instead, the agreement conditions a user’s ability to access eGuardian on the user 

refraining from sharing incident reports that are not reasonably indicative of preoperational 

planning related to terrorism through eGuardian.  The agreement does not impose any other 

sanction on an individual who fails to satisfy that condition, and NSI participants remain able to 

share incident reports that are not reasonably indicative of preoperational planning related to 

terrorism through channels other than eGuardian.  Indeed, if the Functional Standard and Privacy 

Impact Assessment were independently binding (as Plaintiffs contend), there would be little 

reason to require users to enter into a voluntary agreement that they will follow Defendants’ 

guidance when using this federally managed database.7  

                                                                                        

program to ensure compliance.  28 C.F.R. §§ 23.30, 23.40.  And a federal statute allows for the 
imposition of significant civil penalties on any person that fails to comply with these principles.  
42 U.S.C.A. § 3789g(d).  Here, in contrast, there is no corresponding regulatory regime imposing 
legal rights or obligations, and thus, the APA’s procedural requirements are not implicated. 
6 Plaintiffs argue that it is not necessary for them to show that the issuance of the Privacy Impact 
Assessment is a final agency action.  Pls. Opp. 23 n.14; see also id. at 4 n.1.  However, Plaintiffs 
do not point to any other agency pronouncement (other than a few pamphlets) through which the 
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) supposedly issued an allegedly binding legislative rule.  
Plaintiffs’ difficulty in identifying a document issuing a distinct standard for the dissemination of 
SAR information is likely because the DOJ has never issued such a standard.  Instead, as 
explained in Defendants’ initial brief, see Gov. Br. at 10, the Privacy Impact Assessment simply 
repeats the standard described by the Program Manager in the Functional Standard.   
7 Plaintiffs also offhandedly suggest that Defendants’ guidance is reviewable because it affects 
the rights of individuals whose personal information is shared in connection with the NSI.  Pls. 
Opp. at 24.  This suggestion, however, does not add anything to the analysis.  An agency action 
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Plaintiffs, moreover, have failed to cite to any authority that would justify subjecting this 

guidance to APA review.  Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154 (1997), on which Plaintiffs primarily 

rely, is inapposite.  In Bennett, the Fish and Wildlife Service issued a biological opinion 

explaining that a project proposed by the Bureau of Reclamation was likely to harm an 

endangered species of fish and outlining alternative actions that the Bureau of Reclamation could 

take to avoid that negative impact.  Id.  While there was no requirement that the Bureau of 

Reclamation proceed with its planned project, the Supreme Court held that the biological opinion 

constituted a final agency action because it altered the legal regime to which the Bureau of 

Reclamation was subject.  Id. at 178.  Specifically, federal regulations prohibited the Bureau of 

Reclamation from proceeding with its project unless it complied with the conditions of the 

opinion and provided a safe harbor to any person complying with the biological opinion from 

otherwise applicable penalties.  Id. at 170.   

Defendants’ guidance does not similarly alter the legal regime to which state and local 

law enforcement agencies are subject.  Unlike in Bennett, there are no federal regulations 

providing that NSI participants will be deemed to be in compliance with any legal requirement if 

they follow Defendants’ guidance.  Plaintiffs suggest that Defendants have granted NSI 

participants immunity from 28 C.F.R. Part 23 by authorizing them to share reports that are 

reasonably indicative of terrorism.  Pls. Opp. at 24.  But Defendants’ guidance does not suggest 

that it provides that protection and there is no federal regulation conferring immunity.  In short, 

the guidance is not subject to APA review because it does not affect the “legal rights of the 

relevant actors” involved in the NSI process.  Bennett, 520 U.S at 178. 
 
III. DEFENDANTS WERE NOT REQUIRED BY STATUTE OR REGULATION TO 

APPLY 28 C.F.R. PART 23 TO THE NSI  

The central argument on which Plaintiffs’ case rests is that the reasonable suspicion 

standard in 28 C.F.R. Part 23 applies to the NSI and that Defendants’ failure to apply that 

                                                                                        

is only final if it fixes obligations or rights, or alters the legal regime to which regulated parties 
are subject.  And Defendants’ guidance—which does not bind individuals—has not changed 
anything in that regard.   
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 Acting Assistant Attorney General 
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United States Attorney 
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Deputy Branch Director 
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 Senior Trial Counsel 
 Va. Bar No. 33024 
 
 /s/ Kieran G. Gostin 
 KIERAN G. GOSTIN  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
 
 
WILEY GILL, et al.,  
 
Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, et al, 
  
Defendants.  

 
 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 

 
No. 3:14-cv-03120-RS  

 
FURTHER SUPPLEMENTAL JOINT CASE 
MANAGEMENT STATEMENT  

 

  

 

 The Parties to the above-entitled action jointly submit this FURTHER 

SUPPLEMENTAL JOINT CASE MANAGEMENT STATEMENT pursuant to the Court’s 

August 25, 2015 Order (ECF No. 62), in which the Court instructed the parties to set forth a 

proposed schedule for cross-summary judgment motions.  This supplemental statement provides 

the parties’ proposed schedules and justifications for their respective positions.  

 Plaintiffs propose that the Court set cross-motions for summary judgment for early 2016 

to allow for motion practice related to the sufficiency of Defendants’ proffered Administrative 

Record and for limited and targeted discovery related to the Court’s jurisdiction.  Defendants 

propose that summary judgment briefing proceed immediately.  As explained below, Plaintiffs’ 

objections to the sufficiency of the administrative record can be addressed under Rule 56(d). 

I. Plaintiffs’ Position 

Plaintiffs contend that two substantial issues must be resolved before briefing on 

summary judgment – whether the Administrative Record as to Defendant PM-ISE’s Functional 

Standard is complete and whether Plaintiffs are entitled to seek discovery related to the Court’s 

jurisdiction.  Neither of these issues was resolved by the Court’s ruling (ECF No. 60) on 

Plaintiffs’ motion to seek discovery related to Defendant DOJ’s Standard for suspicious activity 

reporting.  Plaintiffs are mindful that this is a case management statement and not a brief, but 
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respectfully submit that proceeding to briefing on summary judgment without prior resolution of 

these two issues would severely prejudice Plaintiffs and short-circuit the meet and confer 

process.  At the same time, resolution of these issues prior to summary judgment would facilitate 

the orderly resolution of this case.   

As to the need to seek jurisdictional discovery, Plaintiffs bear the burden on jurisdictional 

issues, which cannot be waived by Defendants, Defendants are in the exclusive possession of 

facts bearing on issues they disputed at the motion to dismiss stage, Plaintiffs have a right to 

develop a factual record sufficient to meet their burden before this Court and on appeal, and Rule 

56(d) would not be an adequate mechanism for protecting their right to do so in this case.  

Moreover, the parties are currently meeting and conferring over the adequacy of the 

Administrative Record.  To the extent that process does not resolve their dispute, the issue 

should be litigated through noticed motions prior to briefing on summary judgment, so that the 

Court has before it the whole Administrative Record.       

A. Procedural History 

The parties have disputed the propriety of discovery in this action from the outset.  

Plaintiffs have raised the need for discovery and record development in the following three areas: 

(1) jurisdictional issues; (2) Defendant PM-ISE’s Functional Standard; and (3) Defendant DOJ’s 

Suspicious Activity Reporting (“SAR”) Standard.  See ECF No. 59 at 4-5; see also ECF No. 36 

at 7-10; ECF No. 40 at 7-9. 

On March 12, 2015, the Court held a case management conference in which Defendants 

argued that review in this case should be limited to the Administrative Record.  Plaintiffs argued 

that discovery was needed as to the issuance of each of the two agency actions challenged in this 

case – Defendant PM-ISE’s Functional Standard and Defendant DOJ’s SAR Standard.  The 

Court agreed that Defendants should file an administrative record on the PM-ISE Functional 

Standard and invited Plaintiffs to submit a brief setting forth Plaintiffs’ argument as to why 

discovery on DOJ’s SAR Standard was appropriate.  At the March 2015 case management 
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conference, Plaintiffs also emphasized the need for discovery of facts bearing on the Court’s 

jurisdiction.  See ECF No. 40 at 7-8; see also Nw. Envtl. Def. Ctr. v. Bonneville Power Admin., 

117 F.3d 1520, 1528 (9th Cir. 1997).  Defendants did not dispute that review of facts outside the 

administrative record is appropriate for assessing Plaintiffs’ standing (see ECF No. 36 at 6:23-

24) and suggested that the parties might enter into stipulations.  The Court recommended that 

Plaintiffs pursue Defendants’ invitation to explore stipulations and delay taking discovery related 

to standing until after Defendants filed the Administrative Record for the PM-ISE’s Functional 

Standard and the Court ruled on Plaintiffs’ motion regarding discovery on the DOJ Standard.  

The Court’s Minute Order instructed Defendants to provide an Administrative Record and also 

ordered the parties to meet and confer on further case management issues.  See ECF No. 41.  The 

parties have followed the Court’s instructions. 

On June 4, 2015, Plaintiffs filed a motion regarding discovery on the DOJ Standard.  See 

ECF No. 50.  

On June 16, 2015, Defendants filed the Administrative Record for Defendant PM-ISE’s 

Functional Standard.  See ECF Nos. 52-53.   

Consistent with the Court’s suggestion at the March 12, 2015 case management 

conference, Plaintiffs deferred seeking discovery on standing issues pending resolution of their 

motion on the DOJ Standard and instead sought to meet and confer with Defendants on both 

standing and the adequacy of the Administrative Record submitted by the PM-ISE.  On July 28, 

2015, Plaintiffs sent a detailed letter explaining why the Administrative Record was incomplete 

and exploring the feasibility of entering into factual stipulations that would eliminate or narrow 

the need for jurisdictional discovery.  

On August 12, 2015, the parties filed a Joint Case Management Statement, updating the 

Court as to the status of discovery/record development in each of the three contested areas.  See 

ECF No. 59.  As to DOJ’s SAR Standard, the JCMS noted that Plaintiffs’ motion was pending 

before the Court.  Id. at 4.  As to jurisdiction, the parties noted, among other things, that they 
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were exploring potential factual stipulations.  Id. at 5.  As to the PM-ISE Functional Standard, 

the JCMS stated: “Plaintiffs have concerns that [the administrative] record is incomplete, but the 

parties are currently meeting and conferring in an attempt to resolve these concerns without 

motion practice.”  Id. at 5.  Plaintiffs expressly identified the potential need for motion practice 

over the adequacy of the Administrative Record and stated that scheduling summary judgment 

was premature until threshold discovery issues were resolved.  Id. at 3, 6.   

On August 14, 2015, the Court issued an order denying Plaintiffs’ motion to seek 

discovery regarding DOJ’s SAR Standard and inviting the parties to submit a supplemental case 

management conference statement.  See ECF No. 60.   

On August 21, 2015, the parties submitted a supplemental case management statement in 

which Plaintiffs informed the Court about a recent incident involving the FBI’s questioning of 

close family members of one of the Plaintiffs in this action and cited the incident as an issue 

about which discovery was appropriate and necessary because it sheds light on standing. 

On August 25, 2015, Defendants responded to Plaintiffs’ July 28, 2015 meet and confer 

letter.  Defendants contended that the Administrative Record for the PM-ISE’s Functional 

Standard is complete, invited Plaintiffs to identify any additional documents they believed 

missing from the record, and stated that they were not currently willing to enter into Plaintiffs’ 

proposed factual stipulations regarding standing and “final agency action.”  

The same day, the Court issued an order continuing the case management conference 

then-set for August 27, 2015 and instructing the parties to file a further case management 

conference statement proposing a summary judgment schedule.  See ECF No. 62.  The Order 

stated that “[t]he only subject area that plaintiffs identify as potentially requiring discovery...is 

the issue of standing.”  Id. at 2.  The Court further stated: 
 
Defendants’ challenge to standing at the pleading stage was rejected.  It is contemplated 
that the cross-motions for summary judgment referred to above will be limited to review 
on the administrative record of the propriety of the challenged agency actions.  Because 
defendants have not proposed that any discovery go forward in advance of those motions, 
it is unclear how they would advance a challenge to standing that differed from what they 
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presented in the motion to dismiss.  In the event defendants nevertheless elect to include a 
further standing challenge as part of their motion, plaintiffs should respond based on such 
evidence and arguments as they presently possess, and if they deem it necessary, also 
seek relief under Rule 56(d).  [Id.] 

On August 31, 2015, Plaintiffs responded to Defendants’ August 25, 2015 letter, further 

detailing Plaintiffs’ concerns about the incomplete nature of the PM-ISE’s Administrative 

Record, identifying 55 categories of documents missing from the Record, and observing that 

Defendants’ response to Plaintiffs’ proposed stipulations on jurisdictional issues underscored the 

need for discovery.  Plaintiffs requested that Defendants respond to their request to complete the 

Administrative Record by September 10, 2015. 
 

B. Plaintiffs’ Motion to Complete the Administrative Record Should Be 
Resolved Before Briefing on Summary Judgment 

 

Where an agency fails to produce a complete administrative record or the administrative 

record is insufficient to allow the court to conduct the review required by the APA, plaintiffs can 

seek to complete and/or supplement the record.1  To facilitate orderly resolution of the claims in 

this case, the Court should address whether the Administrative Record is complete before 

briefing on summary judgment.   

In reviewing agency action under the Administrative Procedure Act, “the court shall 

review the whole record or those parts of it cited by a party.”  5 U.S.C. § 706 (emphasis added); 

see also Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Train, 519 F.2d 287, 291 (D.C. Cir. 1975) 

(reversible error to “proceed[] with … review on the basis of a partial and truncated record”).  

Plaintiffs have substantial concerns that the Record is not complete; these concerns 

should be resolved through a noticed motion.  Plaintiffs contend the Record is incomplete 

because (1) Defendants have inappropriately narrowed its scope to materials considered in the 

development of only one discrete portion of the Functional Standard, even though the Complaint 

                                                 
1 See, e.g., Miami Nation of Indians of Indiana v. Babbitt, 979 F. Supp. 771, 781 (N.D. Ind. 
1996) (granting in part motion to complete and supplement the record).  
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expressly challenges the Functional Standard as a whole;2 (2) Plaintiffs have identified 55 

categories of documents that the Record itself makes clear were considered by the agency but are 

missing from the Record compiled by Defendants;3 and (3) Defendants have admittedly withheld 

“deliberative” materials but have refused to produce a privilege log, thus precluding an 

evaluation by Plaintiffs or the Court as to the propriety of these withholdings.4   

To allow for an orderly presentation of issues, the Court should determine whether the 

Record is complete before briefing on summary judgment proceeds.  To engage in judicial 

review under the APA, the Court “must have access to the full record.... [Summary judgment] is 

                                                 
2 Defendants must “file the entire administrative record pertinent to the omissions identified in 
the complaint.”  Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Train, 519 F.2d 287, 292 (D.C. Cir. 
1975).  They “cannot define the record by compartmentalizing” portions of the Functional 
Standard.  Cf. Exxon Corp. v. Dep’t of Energy, 91 F.R.D. 26, 36-37 (N.D. Tex. 1981) (agency 
could not narrowly define record by “attach[ing]” “labels … to the stages of its decisional 
process” and “omitting from the record all materials compiled by ‘the agency’ before rendering 
the final decision”).  Plaintiffs challenge the Functional Standard –  not only its definition of 
“suspicious activity” but also the process for collecting, maintaining, and disseminating 
suspicious activity reports set forth in the Functional Standard.  See, e.g., Compl. at ¶¶ 42, 51, 
162, 168 & Prayer for Relief. 
3 See Thompson v. U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 885 F.2d 551, 555 (9th Cir. 1989) (“The ‘whole’ 
administrative record, therefore, consists of all documents and materials directly or indirectly 
considered by agency decision-makers and includes evidence contrary to the agency’s position.”) 
(internal quotation marks, citation omitted); High Sierra Hikers Ass’n v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 
2011 WL 2531138, *9 (N.D. Cal. June 24, 2011) (granting motion to augment record as to 
internal agency documents regarding proposed environmental assessment that were considered 
by the agency).  
4 See Tafas v. Dudas, 530 F. Supp. 2d 786, 801 (E.D. Va. 2008) (“when claiming deliberative 
process privilege…the government must comply with formal procedures necessary to invoke the 
privilege, including the provision of a privilege log”) (internal quotation marks, citation 
omitted”); Tenneco Oil. Co. v. Dep’t of Energy, 475 F. Supp. 299, 319 (D. Del. 1979) (“DOE 
must identify documents … with sufficient specificity to enable this Court meaningfully to 
evaluate whether the information sought involves the internal deliberative process by which a 
decision or agency position was reached.”); Guidance to Client Agencies on Compiling the 
Administrative Record, U.S. Atty. Bull., vol. 42, no. 1 at 9 (Feb. 2000) (“[i]f documents and 
materials are determined to be privileged or protected, the index of record must identify the 
documents and materials, reflect that they are being withheld, and state on what basis they are 
being withheld”).   
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premature until such time as the Court is satisfied the ‘full’ record has been submitted.”  Exxon 

Corp. v. Dep’t of Energy, 91 F.R.D. 26, 39 (N.D. Tex. 1981) (requiring “complete ... 

Administrative Record ... before DOE’s Motion for Summary Judgment is entertained”).5  

Defendants rely upon McCrary v. Gutierrez, 495 F. Supp. 2d 1038, 1041 (N.D. Cal. 2007), but 

plaintiffs’ challenge to the adequacy of the record in that case was heard on a noticed motion 

before briefing on summary judgment, which is the process Plaintiffs propose here.6   

Moreover, Plaintiffs have been diligent in raising and attempting to resolve their concerns 

and could not have brought a motion to complete the Administrative Record earlier.7  At the time 

the Court issued its August 25, 2015 Order directing the parties to propose a summary judgment 

briefing schedule, the parties were still in the process of meeting and conferring over whether the 

Administrative Record is complete.8   
 
C. Discovery Related to the Court’s Jurisdiction Should Be Conducted Before 

Briefing on Summary Judgment 

                                                 
5 See also State of Calif. v. U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 2014 WL 1665290 *3 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2014) 
(“court will decide [defendants’ motion for summary adjudication] after ruling on plaintiffs’ 
motion to supplement the administrative record”); Autotel v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 2013 WL 
5564135 *2 (D. Nev. Oct. 7, 2013) (parties did not move for summary judgment because 
plaintiffs moved to supplement the record), order vacated in part on reconsideration, 2015 WL 
1471518 (D. Nev. Mar. 31, 2015). 
6 The case management order in McCrary expressly provided plaintiff the opportunity to seek 
discovery or to complete the record before summary judgment.  See Case No. 06-cv-04174-JW, 
ECF No. 21 at ¶ 4 (“In the event that Plaintiff pursues discovery or files an objection to the 
record, Plaintiff shall file his motion for summary judgment within 45 days after the completion 
of discovery or supplementation of the record, whichever is later, which contemplates a ruling by 
this Court on any motions for a protective order that may be sought by Defendants.”). 
7 Plaintiffs’ motion to complete the record will identify known documents that were considered 
but not included in the Administrative Record.  After Defendants complete the record, it may 
still be necessary to supplement the record.  See Southwest Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. U.S. 
Forest Serv., 100 F.3d 1443, 1450 (9th Cir. 1996) (setting forth conditions under which court 
may supplement record with extra-record materials).   
8 See ECF No. 59 at 3:15-18 (discussing parties’ meet and confer over Plaintiffs’ concerns that 
Administrative Record incomplete and potential need for motion practice over issue), 4:27-5:4 
(same); 6:18-19 (stating Plaintiffs’ position that “the scheduling of summary judgment or trial 
dates would be premature before the threshold discovery issues are resolved”). 
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Plaintiffs will suffer prejudice if they are unable to conduct discovery related to the 

Court’s jurisdiction before the parties submit briefing on summary judgment.  Rule 56(d) is not 

an adequate mechanism for protecting their right to develop the factual record in this case.  

The rule limiting review to the administrative record in APA cases does not apply to 

jurisdictional questions, Nw. Entl. Def. Ctr. v. Bonneville Power Admin., 117 F.3d 1520, 1528 

(9th Cir. 1997), and therefore does not bar Plaintiffs from conducting discovery on the issue of 

standing.  The Court’s August 25, 2015 Order suggests no such discovery would be necessary 

unless Defendants “elect to include a further standing challenge as part of their motion” for 

summary judgment.  ECF No. 62 at 2.  But Defendants cannot waive objections to subject matter 

jurisdiction and it is the Plaintiffs’ burden to establish standing.   

Relatedly, Plaintiffs cannot rest on the Court’s rejection at the pleading stage of 

Defendants’ challenge to Plaintiffs’ standing.  In their motion to dismiss, Defendants disputed 

Plaintiffs’ standing by arguing that Plaintiffs cannot “credibly” allege that their injuries stemmed 

from Defendants’ conduct and that “merely being the subject of an SAR, in the national 

database” does not constitute a cognizable injury-in-fact.  See Order Denying Motion to Dismiss 

(ECF No. 38 at 7).  Opposing these arguments requires further fact development – regarding the 

extent to which third parties reported Plaintiffs as suspicious because of Defendants’ standards 

and the consequences of being the subject of a SAR in a national database.  The latter subject 

entails information in Defendants’ exclusive control.  Even if the Court were to reject 

Defendants’ standing arguments on summary judgment – such that Plaintiffs need not develop 

these facts to prevail on summary judgment – an appellate court might accept those arguments.  

Plaintiffs are entitled to develop a factual record sufficient to meet their burden before this Court 

and on appeal.   

For the same reason, Rule 56(d) is not sufficient to protect Plaintiffs’ right to develop a 

factual record establishing their standing.  That provision affords relief upon a showing by a 

nonmovant that “it cannot present facts essential to justify its opposition.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d) 
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(emphasis added).  If, on summary judgment, Defendants elect not to challenge standing, or to 

challenge standing only on select grounds, Plaintiffs cannot invoke Rule 56(d) to justify 

obtaining discovery.  But such an election would not prevent Defendants from raising on appeal 

challenges to standing they chose not to raise at summary judgment.  See, e.g., City of Los 

Angeles v. County of Kern, 581 F.3d 841, 845 (9th Cir. 2009) (arguments regarding Article III 

standing “cannot be waived by any party”).  Plaintiffs will therefore be severely prejudiced if 

they are unable to take jurisdictional discovery before briefing proceeds on summary judgment.   

In addition, because Defendants assert that “final agency action” is a question of subject 

matter jurisdiction, see ECF No. 21 at 23 (motion to dismiss); 36 at 2:6-10 (JCMS), Plaintiffs are 

entitled to discovery related to that issue as well.   

Plaintiffs attempted to propose factual stipulations related to standing and final agency 

action, but the parties’ meet and confer was not fruitful.9  Plaintiffs propose to serve limited 

discovery related to standing and final agency action on or before September 17, 2015.  

Depositions regarding the written responses may also be necessary.  To the extent Defendants 

contest Plaintiffs’ right to obtain such discovery, the question should be litigated on a motion for 

a protective order or motion to compel. 

  
  *  *  * 

 

Plaintiffs therefore propose the following schedule: 

Sept. 10, 2015 Parties to complete meet and confer over completeness of the administrative 
record 

Sept. 17, 2015 Plaintiffs to propound initial written discovery related to Court’s jurisdiction 

                                                 
9 Plaintiffs have consistently reserved their right to seek discovery on facts outside the 
administrative record that bear on the Court’s jurisdiction.  See ECF Nos. 36 at 7-8, 40 at 7-8, 59 
at 5; ECF No. 50, n. 4.  Plaintiffs have not propounded jurisdictional discovery to date based on 
the Court’s suggestion at the March 12, 2015 CMC that they defer doing so until after the ruling 
on Plaintiffs’ motion regarding the DOJ Standard and after exploring potential factual 
stipulations, but are now prepared to do so. 
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Sept. 24, 2015 Plaintiffs to file motion to complete the Administrative Record 

Oct. 29, 2015 Hearing on Plaintiffs’ motion to complete the Administrative Record 

Jan. 28, 2016 Defendants to file motion in support of summary judgment (40 pages) 

March 3, 2016 Plaintiffs to file opposition and cross-motion (45pages) 

April 7, 2016 Defendants to file opposition and reply ( 40 pages) 

April 21, 2016 Plaintiffs to file reply (35 pages) 

 

II. Defendants’ Position 

Consistent with the Court’s Order that the parties submit a schedule for briefing summary 

judgment, Defendants’ position is that this case is ready to proceed to summary judgment 

without any additional motion practice.  As Plaintiffs’ recitation of the procedural history in this 

case shows, the Court has already entertained significant preliminary proceedings in this 

Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) case.  Among other things, Defendants have filed an 

administrative record regarding the issuance of the Functional Standard challenged by Plaintiffs, 

and the Court has denied Plaintiffs’ motion to expand that administrative record to include a 

purportedly separate “DOJ Standard”.  To the extent that Plaintiffs assert that there any 

additional factual issues relevant to the resolution of this action that are not addressed by the 

administrative record that has been filed, those issues will most efficiently be identified and 

explained through summary judgment briefing and, as noted in the Court’s recent order, under 

Rule 56(d).   

This Further Supplemental Joint Case Management Statement is not the appropriate 

context to brief the issues raised by Plaintiffs concerning the appropriateness of discovery related 

to their standing to bring these claims or the completeness of the administrative record.  As the 

Court has noted, Plaintiffs will have the opportunity to explain their position that the 

administrative record is incomplete and that jurisdictional discovery must be permitted through 

summary judgment briefing—and if necessary, the filing of a Rule 56(d) affidavit.  See Dkt. 60, 

8/14/15 Order Denying Motion for Leave to Conduct Discovery at 4 (“If in the course of such 

Case 3:14-cv-03120-RS   Document 71   Filed 09/04/15   Page 10 of 15

FER  44

  Case: 17-16107, 03/30/2018, ID: 10820052, DktEntry: 32, Page 47 of 60



 

Page 11 of 15 

FURTHER SUPP. JOINT CASE MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 

No. 3:14-cv-03120-RS 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

motion practice, the need for targeted discovery on particular issues, generally consistent with 

APA proceedings, becomes manifest, the question of permitting discovery can be revisited.”); 

Dkt. 62, 8/25/14 Order Continuing Case Management Conference and Directing Supplemental 

Filing (“In the event defendants nevertheless elect to include a further standing challenge as part 

of their motion, plaintiffs should respond based on such evidence and argument as they presently 

possess, and if they deem it necessary, also seek relief under Rule 56(d).”).  Indeed, in light of 

the Court’s prior rulings, Defendants do not anticipate making any standing arguments based on 

the submission of factual evidence in connection with their motion for summary judgment.   

Though summary judgment is the more appropriate context to address the issues raised 

by Plaintiffs, Defendants believe it necessary to respond briefly in light of the detailed arguments 

they have made in this joint statement.  Considerable deference is given to the agency to 

determine whether the administrative record is complete.  As this Court has itself stated, “[a]n 

agency’s designation and certification of the administrative record is treated like other 

established administrative procedures, and thus entitled to a presumption of administrative 

regularity.” McCrary v. Gutierrez, 495 F. Supp. 2d 1038, 1041 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (Seeborg, J.).   

Consistent with that discretion, the Program Manager acted appropriately in compiling an 

administrative record including the documents he relied upon (directly and indirectly) in issuing 

the definition of suspicious activity utilized in the Functional Standard.  Despite the inclusion of 

allegations in the Complaint relating to other aspects of the Nationwide SAR Initiative (“NSI”), 

the claims asserted in the Complaint unambiguously challenge the permissibility of the standard 

by which SAR information is collected and shared in connection with the NSI.  Compl. ¶¶ 42–

52, 159– 64, 167–68; see also Dkt. 38, 2/20/2015, Order Denying Motion to Dismiss at 1 

(“Plaintiffs contend that defendants Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the Program Manager-

Information Sharing Environment (“PM-ISE”) have issued protocols utilizing an overly broad 

standard to define the types of activities that should be deemed as having a potential nexus to 

terrorism.”).  And Plaintiffs specifically allege in the Complaint that this “SAR standard” is the 
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definition of suspicious activity in the Functional Standard.  Id. ¶ 44 (“[Functional Standard 1.5] 

sets forth the following standard for suspicious activity reporting: ‘[o]bserved behavior 

reasonably indicative of pre-operational planning related to terrorism or other criminal 

activity.”).   

Plaintiffs are also incorrect that deliberative material should be included in the 

administrative record or else identified in a privilege log.  To the contrary, courts have held that 

deliberative materials need not be designated as part of the administrative record because “the 

actual subjective motivation of agency decisionmakers is immaterial as a matter of law—unless 

there is a showing of bad faith or improper behavior.”  In re Subpoena Duces Tecum Served on 

Office of Comptroller of Currency, 156 F.3d 1279, 1279 (D.C. Cir. 1998).  Likewise, “[s]ince 

deliberative documents are not part of the administrative record, an agency that withholds these 

privileged documents is not required to produce a privilege log to describe the documents that 

have been withheld.”  Nat’l Ass’n of Chain Drug Stores v. U.S. Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., 

631 F. Supp. 2d 23, 27 (D.D.C. 2009).   

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ objections to the adequacy of the administrative record are 

without basis.  The administrative record is complete. In any event, as the Court recognized, 

Plaintiffs are able to raise any concerns they have with the completeness of that record through 

the briefing of summary judgment under Rule 56(d).  Defendants therefore propose the following 

briefing schedule, with the following proposed page limits: 

 
October 8, 2015 Defendants to file motion in support of summary judgment (40 

pages) 
 

November 19, 2015 Plaintiffs to file opposition and cross-motion (45 pages) 
 

January 14, 2016 Defendants to file opposition and reply (40 pages) 
 

February 4, 2016 Plaintiffs to file reply (35 pages) 
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Dated: September 4, 2015  ________/s/ Linda Lye____________ 

     Counsel for Plaintiffs10 

  

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION 
FOUNDATION OF NORTHERN CALIFORNIA 
Linda Lye (#21584)  
llye@aclunc.org 
Julia Harumi Mass (#189649)  
jmass@aclunc.org  
39 Drumm Street 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
Tel: 415.621.2493 
Fax: 415.896.1702 
 
ASIAN AMERICANS ADVANCING JUSTICE – 
ASIAN LAW CAUCUS 
Nasrina Bargzie (#238917)  
nsrinab@advancingjustice-alc.org 
Yaman Salahi (#288752)  
yamans@advancingjustice-alc.org 
55 Columbus Avenue 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
Tel: 415.848.7711 
Fax: 415.896.1702 
  
MORGAN, LEWIS & BROCKIUS LLP 
Stephen Scotch-Marmo (admitted pro hac vice) 
stephen.scotch-marmo@morganlewis.com 
Michael Abelson (admitted pro hac vice) 
michael.abelson@morganlewis.com 
101 Park Avenue, 
New York, NY 10178 
Tel: 212.309.6000  
Fax: 212.309.6001 
399 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10022  
 
MORGAN, LEWIS & BROCKIUS LLP 
Jeffrey Raskin (#169096) 
jraskin@morganlewis.com  
Nicole R. Sadler (#275333) 
nsadler@morganlewis.com 
Phillip Wiese (#291842) 

                                                 
10 I, Linda Lye, hereby attest, in accordance with Local Rule 5-1(i)(3), the concurrence in the 
filing of this document has been obtained from the other signatory listed here. 
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San Francisco, CA 94105 
Tel: 415.442.1000 
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Fac:  212.549.2654 
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FOUNDATION OF SAN DIEGO AND 
IMPERIAL COUNTIES 
David Loy (#229235) 
Mitra Ebadolahi (#275157) 
mebadolahi@aclusandiego.org 
P.O. Box 87131 
San Diego, CA  92138 
Tel:   619.232.2121 
Fax:  619.232.0036 
 
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION 
FOUNDATION OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA 
Peter Bibring (#223981) 
pbibring@aclusocal.org 
1313 West 8th Street 
Los Angeles, CA  90017 
Tel:  213.977.9500 
Fax:  213.977.5299 
 

Dated: September 4, 2015  _____/s/ Paul G. Freeborne______ 
 
     Counsel for Defendants 

 
JOYCE R. BRANDA 
Acting Assistant Attorney General 
MELINDA L. HAAG 
United States Attorney 
ANTHONY J. COPPOLINO   
Deputy Branch Director 
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Senior Trial Counsel 
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KIERAN G. GOSTIN 
Trial Attorney 
 
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch  
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 883 
Washington, D.C.  20044 
Telephone: (202) 353-0543 
Facsimile: (202) 616-8460 
E-mail: paul.freeborne@usdoj.gov 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE MANAGEMENT ORDER 

The above JOINT CASE MANAGEMENT STATEMENT & PROPOSED ORDER is approved 

as the Case Management Order for this case and all parties shall comply with its provisions. In 

addition, the Court makes the further orders stated below: 

 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated:   

 UNITED STATES DISTRICT/MAGISTRATE 
JUDGE 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

WILEY GILL, et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, et al., 

Defendants. 

 

Case No.  14-cv-03120-RS    

 
 
ORDER REFERRING ISSUES TO 
MAGISTRATE JUDGE AND 
CONTINUING FURTHER CASE 
MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 

 
 

 

Upon review of the parties’ further supplemental joint case management statement and 

good cause appearing, it is ordered: 

1.   The parties shall complete their ongoing meet and confer negotiations regarding the 

administrative record, including any further meet and confer efforts that may be required 

by the magistrate judge prior to motion practice. 

2.  A randomly-selected magistrate judge shall be assigned to this action to hear and decide 

any disputes regarding the adequacy of the administrative record that the parties are unable 

to resolve, as well as any discovery disputes in the event discovery is permitted at some 

future point in time. 

3.  Plaintiffs’ request for leave to propound “jurisdictional” discovery at this juncture is 

denied. 

4. The further Case Management Conference is continued to November 19, 2015.  In the 

event the issues regarding the administrative record have not been resolved, one week prior 
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to the conference the parties shall submit a joint status update.  If no further challenges to 

the completeness of the administrative record are then pending, one week prior to the 

conference the parties shall jointly propose a briefing schedule for cross-summary 

judgment motions.  The parties are advised that the page limits they have proposed will be 

reduced by five pages per brief. 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

Dated:  September 8, 2015  

______________________________________ 

RICHARD SEEBORG 
United States District Judge 
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Principal Deputy Attorney General 
ANTHONY J. COPPOLINO   
Deputy Branch Director 
KIERAN G. GOSTIN 
Trial Attorney 
D.C. Bar No. 1019779 
 
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch  
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 883 
Washington, D.C.  20044 
Telephone: (202) 353-4556 
Facsimile: (202) 616-8460 
E-mail: kieran.g.gostin@usdoj.gov 
 
Attorneys for Federal Defendants 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 
WILEY GILL; JAMES PRIGOFF; TARIQ 
RAZAK; KHALID IBRAHIM; and AARON 
CONKLIN, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, et al., 
 
 

Defendants. 

 

No. 3:14-cv-03120 (RS)(KAW) 
 
DEFENDANTS’ NOTICE OF MOTION 
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND 
MEMORANDUM IN  SUPPORT  
 
Hearing Date:  December 8, 2016 
Time:  1:30 PM 
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projects receiving Omnibus Act funding are in compliance with the regulation’s 

requirements, see 28 C.F.R. §§ 23.30, 23.40, and set forth specific penalties for any project 

that fails to comply with those requirements, see 42 U.S.C. § 3789g(d); 28 C.F.R. § 23.30.  

The Functional Standard, in contrast, does not establish any monitoring mechanism to 

ensure compliance or set forth any penalties for a failure to comply.  There is simply no 

expectation that the PM-ISE will seek to enforce the Functional Standard against NSI 

participants through administrative (or judicial) proceedings, nor has it ever done so.  

In sum, the Functional Standard is the result of a long-term collaborative effort 

between law enforcement partners at the federal, state, local, tribal, and territorial levels of 

government to standardize the process of sharing SARs across jurisdictional lines.  

Consistent with the collaborative nature of that effort, the Functional Standard does not 

attempt to impose mandatory rules, but instead describes guidelines intended to promote 

consistent practices.  The issuance of this policy guidance is not an exercise of a legislative 

function by a federal agency, and therefore, is not subject to the APA’s procedural 

requirements for rulemaking.   

* * * 

In addition to exempting “general statements of policy” from its rulemaking 

procedures, the APA only permits review of agency actions that are “final.”  5 U.S.C. § 704.  

As explained by the Supreme Court, an action is only deemed final if it is both (i) the 

“consummation of the agency’s decisionmaking process” and (ii) an action by which “rights 

or obligations have been determined, or from which legal consequences will flow.”  Bennett v. 

Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177–78 (1997).  In their motion to dismiss, Defendants explained that 

the issuance of the Functional Standard does not constitute a final agency action because it 

does not satisfy that latter requirement.  See Defs.’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 21, at 23–

25; Defs.; Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 28, at 7–11.  Because this Court 

has already rejected that argument, see Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 38, at 8–
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9, Defendants do not repeat it in detail.  However, Defendants respectfully disagree with the 

Court’s ruling, continue to maintain that the issuance of the Functional Standard does not 

constitute a final agency action, and incorporate the arguments from their motion to dismiss 

here.  
 

B. The PM-ISE’s Process for Formulating the Functional Standard Adequately 
Protected Plaintiffs’ Substantive and Procedural Interests 

Plaintiffs’ request that the PM-ISE be ordered to reissue the Functional Standard in 

accordance with the technical requirements of the APA’s rulemaking procedures is also 

unwarranted in light of the public process that the PM-ISE has already conducted.  The 

APA instructs federal agencies to follow certain notice-and-comment procedures when 

issuing legislative rules.  As noted, because the Functional Standard does not create the 

binding legal obligations that are the hallmark of legislative rules, the PM-ISE did not follow 

those procedures—such as publication of the final rule in the Federal Register.   

Nonetheless, the formulation of the Functional Standard was a public process that involved 

extensive participation by interested parties, including an opportunity for advocacy groups to 

express their concerns with the “reasonably indicative” operational concept that is 

challenged in this case.  Accordingly, even if the Functional Standard were a legislative rule, 

any failure to comply with the APA’s rulemaking procedures is harmless and does not justify 

a remand requiring the agency to engage in those technical procedures at significant cost to 

taxpayers. 

The APA instructs federal courts to take “due account” of the rule of “prejudicial 

error” when reviewing agency action to determine whether the agency complied with the 

APA’s procedural requirements.  5 U.S.C. § 706.   Consistent with the principle that district 

courts act as appellate courts in reviewing agency action, this provision requires district 

courts to apply the same harmless error rule used by federal courts of appeals in civil and 

criminal litigation.  Nat’l Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defs. of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644, 659 (2007).  

As one court has explained, “[i]f the agency’s mistake did not affect the outcome, if it did 
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Standard should not be vacated if the Court determines that this matter must be remanded 

to the agency.  Imposing that remedy would result in an increased risk to national security 

for no valid reason.    

CONCLUSION 

 For the aforementioned reasons, this Court should grant summary judgment in favor 

of Defendants. 

 

August 18, 2016    Respectfully submitted,  
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